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MEMORANDUM 
            
TO:  West Windsor Township Planning Board 
   
FROM: Francis A. Guzik, PE, CME 
  Director of Community Development/Township Engineer  
  
DATE:  September 22, 2020 
  
SUBJECT: Heritage Village @ West Windsor 
  Preliminary/Final Major Site Plan and Subdivision 
  Block 28, Lots 15 & 21 
  #2044 Old Trenton Road (CR 535) and Princeton-Hightstown Road (CR 571) 
  PB 19-08 
 
 

This report is intended to supplement this office’s Engineering review memorandum dated September 15, 
2020 and those comments pertaining to sanitary sewer service, which were outlined in Section 4 of the 
report, specifically comment 4.01. Comments 4.02 and 4.03 remain applicable.  
 
Documents Received/Reviewed: 

 

The following documents have been submitted for review: 
 

A. Report entitled “Sanitary Sewer Report for Heritage at West Windsor - Block 28, Lots 15 & 21 - 
West Windsor Township, Mercer County, New Jersey” prepared by MidAtlantic Engineering 
Partners, LLC, (Michael V. Weseloski, PE) dated March 5, 2020, revised through August 31, 2020; 

B. Report entitled “Supplemental Capacity Analysis Report – Revised Sewer Evaluation – Heritage at 
West Windsor – Township of West Windsor, County of Mercer, State of New Jersey” prepared by 
Suburban Consulting Engineers, Inc., (Michael K. McAloon, PE) dated August 2020, revised 
September 2020; 

To assist with the review of this information, this office retained the services of ACT Engineers of Robbinsville, 
NJ, whom have been assisting the Township with its municipal wastewater infrastructure.  They have issued a 
report dated September 18, 2020 attached hereto and whose comments are incorporated herein by reference.    

The project is located within the Southfield Road Pump Station wastewater service area, where capacity issues 
exist and have been previously discussed with the applicant. The applicant submitted a Supplemental Sewer 
Capacity Analysis prepared by Suburban Consulting Engineers as referenced above), which was based on the 
immediate projects needs only. However, due to pending projects for properties identified in the Township’s Fair 
Share Program (what the applicant categorizes as Phase 1) as well as non-residential development interests 
(categorized as Phase 2), the applicant was requested to evaluate improvements required for all non-sewered 
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properties within the Southfield Pump Station (PS) drainage basin. This evaluation included not only Southfield 
PS itself, but also the sewer infrastructure downstream from Southfield, which includes gravity lines Southfield 
PS discharges into, the South Post Road PS, and the gravity lines downstream therefrom its point of discharge.      

The Phase 1 development analyzed included the Heritage at West Windsor project and the Hilton Realty 
property at the corner of Old Trenton Road and Dorchester Drive.  It also includes Eden Institute on Old Trenton 
Road which has an existing approval for campus expansion. It also includes the recently approved Senior Living 
at Bear Creek project which has not yet begun construction.  Bear Creek will contribute flow into the gravity 
lines downstream of Southfield Road PS.  The SCE report identifies a number of off-tract improvements 
required to the municipal wastewater infrastructure to address capacity issues resulting from the Phase 1 
projects. The total estimated costs for same are indicated to be approximately $1.34M.   

Upon review of the Suburban Consulting Engineers (“SCE”) report the following comments are offered for the 
Board’s consideration: 

1. The SCE report estimates that Heritage Village will produce a wastewater flow of 187,200 gallons per 
day upon completion.  The report identifies the off-tract improvements for accommodating flows for all 
Phase 1 developments, including Heritage Village, but is silent on who is responsible for the design, 
permitting and construction of them.  The project plans submitted similarly do not address the required 
off-tract wastewater improvements that have been identified.  This office recommends that Heritage, as 
the greatest producer of increased flows of the Phase 1 projects to Southfield PS (70.8%), be responsible 
to undertake this work.  

2. In order to insure proper reimbursement to Heritage for the Phase 1 work, it is recommended the 
Township establish a reimbursement Ordinance whereby the other benefitting Phase 1 project property 
owners pay their pro-rata share of the capacity increase project costs.  This requires action by Township 
Council, and there is precedent for this within the municipal Code. 

3. Resolution of the wastewater design and service issues to the satisfaction of this office, should be made a 
condition of any Board action on this application. This includes the ACT Engineers report of September 
18, 2020 which identifies a number of remaining technical comments that need to be addressed.                 

 
This completes the review of the referenced documents.   Other comments may be offered based on the 
responses to the above issues. 
 
FG 
Attachment ACT report 
cc: Applicant (gkanter@americaproperties)  
 William J. Parkhill, II, PE, Applicant’s Engineer (WParkhill@MidAtlanticEng.com) 
 Gerald Muller, Esq. (gmuller@mpmglaw.com) 










